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  Introduction




  The Second World War ended almost seventy years ago and for most of us it is hard to imagine what living through it was really like. Some of us might know about what older

  members of our families experienced, though we may wish we had listened more carefully or asked more when the opportunity was there. And of course, with continued fighting in Afghanistan and other

  parts of the world, war is still a reality for many British families today. But by and large those of us born after 1945 have not lived in close proximity to war, as our parents or grandparents

  did. For them, in their millions, it came into their lives: gas masks, rationing, blackouts, bomb shelters, the sending away of children, the conscription of men and women to battlefronts and

  factories and farms, the obliteration of homes, maiming and killing, the accumulation of atrocities, the persistent anxiety of separation, the spikes of fear, the dread of invasion and the longing,

  six years of it, for it all to be over.




  Just two of our – the editors’ – family members kept a diary, as far as we know. They were among the many who recorded the war, and we turned to them in our search to

  comprehend that period of our families’ lives and our shared history. In all we chose nine diarists – five women, four men – all living in Britain when the war began in September

  1939. We wanted more than entries that repeated the day’s news, and we wanted writers who kept going for the duration. We looked for a range of viewpoints, and for people who wrote about

  their reactions and opinions. Events, yes, seen through different eyes, but we were also after accounts that would help us empathize with those we had not questioned enough – we wanted to

  understand how it felt.




  They all wrote at length, and well. Perhaps they had future family readers in mind, but primarily they wrote for themselves. In their diaries they can complain without being thought negative,

  criticize others without being disloyal, predict events without being right, reveal their fears without being pathetic – howl or rage without being heard. Although, like us, you may find

  yourself shifting in and out of agreement and affinity with them, we hope you will end by being glad to have seen into their lives.




  In 1939 George Beardmore (31) was living with his wife Jean and baby Victoria in North Harrow, not far from Jean’s parents. He had been unemployed and was now a

  temporary insurance clerk. He had no love for the work, his ambition being to earn his living as a writer. Likely to lose his job, short of money and asthmatic, he worried about being able to

  provide for his family and keep them safe when the inevitable bombing began.




  Vera Brittain (45) was married to George Catlin (‘G.’ in her diary), with a house in London and a cottage in the New Forest. She had served as a nurse in the

  First World War. The horror of that war, including the loss of her fiancé, her brother Edward and their two close friends, formed a large part of her best-selling book Testament of

  Youth, published in 1933. Two years later she lost more of those she loved: her father committed suicide and her long-standing friend Winifred Holtby died. By the time war was declared, Vera

  was a leading pacifist campaigner and member of the Peace Pledge Union. She feared that the new conflict would take yet more from her – her husband, her elderly mother, her two young

  children.




  Alan Brooke (56), whose long military career stretched back to 1902, began his diary while on his way to take command of one of the three corps of the British army in

  France. He addressed it to Benita, his wife, as ‘a record of my thoughts and impressions such as I would have discussed them with you had we been together’. She had saved him from the

  depression that had followed the death of his first wife after a car crash. He had been driving and blamed himself. He and Benita had two young children and lived in a house called Ferney Close in

  Hampshire. In 1939 neither of them could have known how Brooke’s responsibilities would escalate and how much he would need the solace of his home and family.




  Anne Garnett (30), originally from London, was known by her married name, Lee-Michell or Michell. Her teenage memoirs were eventually published under her maiden name;

  the extracts reproduced here are from her unpublished war diaries. She was married to Frank, a country lawyer who suffered from diabetes, then a life-threatening condition. They had two children,

  Sarah (6) and Caroline (3, also known as Toots), and were living in a detached modern house, Larks Lea, with a large garden in rural Somerset. She enjoyed reading and classical music, played the

  piano, and had studied art. Anne was an energetic member of her church and community but could also be outspoken and critical of established ways, and did not take well to the social duties of a

  solicitor’s wife, preferring to have her friends round for a game of cards or tennis with drinks. How much of her world could the war destroy?




  Clara Milburn (56) grew up in Coventry, married there in 1905 and made her first home a mile from the city centre and old cathedral. Since 1931 she and her husband Jack

  had lived in a village six miles from Coventry with their live-in helper Kate. Their only child Alan was 25 and back at home after university, having followed his father, now retired, into

  engineering. Gardening, church, walking the dog, shopping, village events – she had a peaceful routine. It would not last: Alan, as an officer in the Territorial Army, was likely to be among

  the first to be called up, and Coventry’s engineering factories were bound to be a target for the Luftwaffe.




  Naomi Mitchison (41) had published twenty works of fiction by 1939, and had given birth to six children, the eldest of whom had died of meningitis aged only

  9.1 She and her husband Dick were members of the Labour Party, and their London home, River Court in Hammersmith, was a meeting place for intellectuals of the

  left, including refugees from Europe with their grim news of race hatred. As war became certain, Naomi decided that Carradale, their estate in west Scotland, purchased recently as a holiday

  retreat, should become their new home, run-down though it was. Her family came from Scotland – her uncle still farmed in the east – and it would surely be safer than London.




  Harold Nicolson (53), MP for West Leicester since 1935, had ended his diplomatic career at the embassy in Berlin, where he had got to know many now suffering under

  Hitler. When the foreign secretary, Anthony Eden, resigned in protest at the appeasement of Germany, Harold spoke in his support and joined the Eden Group of MPs critical of Prime Minister Neville

  Chamberlain. He knew that his home at Sissinghurst in Kent, where he and his wife Vita Sackville-West had created the garden that later became famous, would be in the path of a German invasion

  across the Channel. He knew too that his name would be on the list of those to be arrested.




  Hermione Ranfurly (25) ‘lost’ her parents when she was 16. Her mother, a manic depressive, was committed to a Swiss nursing home, and her father abandoned

  her with no money. Over the next year her remaining grandparents died and her adored brother was killed in a flying accident. Friends helped Hermione and her two younger sisters survive. She found

  work in London, from selling cookers to working in the War Office, which led to a posting in Australia. In Sydney she met Daniel Knox, the sixth Earl of Ranfurly, her future husband. At their

  wedding back in England there were twelve bridesmaids and pages, one from each of the families which had shown her kindness. She and Dan settled in his Mayfair flat with no thought of ever being

  parted.




  Charles Ritchie (32) was from Halifax in Canada. He had been in England before, studying for his MA at Oxford, and was now a diplomat at Canada House, his second

  posting. He arrived in January 1939, secured a bachelor flat and was beginning to enjoy mixing in upper-class literary circles. He had an affinity with the English, which became stronger through

  what he was to witness and endure during the Blitz and beyond.




  Some of the nine were already in the habit of keeping a diary; the others began with the war, motivated by the momentous events. For the most part they wrote each day. When

  Clara Milburn began writing her thoughts in an exercise book in February 1940 she had no idea that she would fill another fourteen. As she finished the eleventh in 1944, she wrote, ‘The only

  thing is to stick it and stick it, and STICK IT till the war is ended’. She could have been speaking for them all. Their thoughts often chime with our contemporary concerns –

  about the quality of political leadership, the ethics of war, the plight of refugees, control of information, changes in attitudes towards gender, class and race, and community cohesion. They tell

  us what happened, they put into words their feelings, and they also take us into their minds.




  Most of the text is selected from our nine diarists’ journals, but we have occasionally included extracts from their letters and books written at the time or from later memoirs, in order

  to complement the entries. We have also added at the end of each chapter some other voices in order to widen the picture of what people went through during the Second World War. For example, none

  of our principal diarists was interned or evacuated, or fought in the desert, or served in India or Singapore, or saw first-hand the horrors of the concentration camps. Again here we have not

  always confined ourselves to diaries, but most of these accounts are contemporary with the war.




  ‘Writing all this,’ noted George Beardmore at a low point in 1944, ‘is perfectly useless except that it serves as an outlet for a mind oppressed with too many vivid

  images’. This ‘outlet’ is our insight – into the war we still want to know about and which is part of the history (often unspoken) of our families, and into the lives of

  people like us but under extreme stress. The diaries recreate for us the experience of familiar life becoming disrupted and distorted, of living with separation and loss, of fighting anxiety and

  fear. They are a form of resistance. That we read them now is part of their victory.




  
 





  A note on the diary entries




  Between them, our nine diarists wrote hundreds of thousands of words; Vera Brittain alone penned 150,000. Although we benefited hugely from the skill of the original editors of

  the published diaries, in putting this volume together we have had to be still more selective. We have visited the diaries at various points during the war, beginning with autumn 1939, ending in

  summer 1945. The selections cannot tell the full history of the war (a brief introduction to each chapter sketches in the major events) or cover the life of each diarist. But there are nine

  parallel stories here, often contrasting, providing individual viewpoints on the same public events, as well as what was only theirs to live through.




  In making selections from the original material we have tried to keep diary entries intact and avoid too much explanation, but it has not always been possible to do one without the other. We

  have cut into some entries or left them before their end in order to keep the focus upon the selected subject matter or to get round the problem of presenting the reader with references to people

  and events that would require more editorial comment. Where names do appear, we have sometimes not explained who they are: for example, Naomi Mitchison’s diary is full of names, but for the

  purposes of this book it suffices to know they are simply local people. Rather than pepper the text with three-dot ellipses to indicate the cuts, and risk interrupting the flow of the narrative, we

  have carried the sentence on after the omission. Nonetheless we have tried at all times not to misconstrue the sense of the original.




  To retain the different characters of the diaries we have not standardized their presentation, so we have left the occasional spelling mistake without labouring the point with the traditional

  [sic], and kept Harold Nicolson’s perfect and Alan Brooke’s less-than-perfect punctuation, Vera Brittain’s abbreviations and ampersands, and Naomi Mitchison’s habit

  of writing o’clock as o’ck. The one exception to this is the date to each entry, which the diarists record differently but which we present as, for example, Sunday 3 September.




  
 





  1. OUTBREAK




  AUTUMN 1939




  In September 1939 Neville Chamberlain had been British prime minister for just over two years. Even before he took office Germany was rearming and had moved forces into the Rhineland, the

  demilitarized area of the country adjacent to France. In May 1938 Germany annexed Austria and made it clear that the Sudetenland, in Czechoslovakia, would be next. All over Europe people became

  convinced that war was inevitable.




  On 15 September Chamberlain flew to Germany to meet Hitler at his Alpine retreat. He promised to discuss the German claim to the Sudetenland with the French and the Czechs and return. But when

  he did so, mission accomplished, Hitler had changed his mind and mood. He wanted more, and he wanted it sooner.




  Workmen began digging trenches in London’s parks. Antiaircraft guns were mounted. The Royal Navy was put on a war footing. ‘How horrible, fantastic, incredible it is that we should

  be digging trenches and trying on gas masks here because of a quarrel in a faraway country between people of whom we know nothing’, Chamberlain observed in a radio broadcast on the evening of

  27 September, adding that war should only be embarked on if ‘the great issues . . . are at stake’. After the broadcast Chamberlain flew to Munich for a meeting of Britain, France,

  Germany and Italy. The resulting agreement gave Germany everything Hitler desired but avoided a major European conflict.




  Before flying home, Chamberlain asked Hitler to sign a peace treaty between Britain and Germany. He went to Hitler’s modest Munich apartment and, once the Führer’s interpreter

  had translated the document for him, he signed it. And so, on 30 September 1938, Chamberlain disembarked from his aeroplane at Heston Aerodrome waving a piece of paper bearing Hitler’s

  signature. His car was mobbed as he left the airport and much of London turned out to sing ‘For He’s a Jolly Good Fellow’ on his return to Downing Street, refusing to disperse

  until he’d appeared outside Number 10. ‘I believe it is peace for our time’, he told them.




  Though the national mood was one of buoyant relief, Winston Churchill – out of office and an MP on the back benches – had a different view: ‘England has been offered a choice

  between war and shame. She has chosen shame and will get war.’2




  The Munich pact lasted barely six months. In March 1939 the Germans took over the rest of Czechoslovakia by force and later the same month rumours reached London of German plans to invade

  Poland. On 31 March Chamberlain told the House of Commons that Britain would go to Poland’s aid in the event of a threat. ‘And,’ he added to resounding cheers, ‘the French

  government . . . stand in the same position.’




  Less than six months later, after months of tension and a growing certainty that war was inevitable, Germany invaded Poland in the early hours of 1 September. In London the evacuation of

  children began. There were steep rises in the number of weddings and pets being put down. Workmen painted white lines down the middle of roads in preparation for a blackout and the British

  government issued an ultimatum to the Germans demanding that their troops withdraw from Poland. At 11.15 on the morning of 3 September the prime minister broadcast to the nation: ‘I am

  speaking to you from the cabinet room of 10 Downing Street. This morning the British ambassador in Berlin handed the German government a final note stating that, unless we heard from them by 11

  o’clock that they were prepared at once to withdraw their troops from Poland, a state of war would exist between us. I have to tell you now that no such undertaking has been received, and

  that consequently this country is at war with Germany.’




  

    THE DIARISTS


  




  GEORGE BEARDMORE




  

    At the end of August George and his wife Jean were taking a short holiday at Love’s Farm near Horsham, where they had spent part of their honeymoon in 1935. Now they

    also had with them their baby Victoria and Jean’s mother (Mamma). George had travelled down separately on his motorbike.


  




  Friday 1 September 1939 – Jean had been sleeping away from me all week so that the baby should not wake the Loves in the next room, but

  this morning she joined me after she had fed the baby, and we were glad and have been all day, for the comfort and communion it afforded us. We needed all the comfort we could get, for in the 10.30

  a.m. wireless news we learned that Germany had invaded Poland and that therefore, because this country had ‘guaranteed’ Poland, both France and Britain had mobilised.




  Big personal shocks at first leave me unmoved and their force only makes itself felt after half an hour. So it was today. Jean wept a little. The whole scene is mixed up for us with a row in

  which Mamma became involved with Mrs Love. Mamma swore that she would sooner be bombed at home if she had to be bombed at all. The result was that I was given urgent instructions to find transport

  back to London for the three of them – Jean and her mother and the baby. My father-in-law is already at home: as Maintenance Engineer at Broadcasting House he has been working a fourteen-hour

  day and sometimes sleeping on the premises. As for me, I had the motor-bike.




  Here I am at home in Harrow, therefore, waiting for the taxi to arrive with Jean and the baby in it. The whole of England is in total darkness, weird to experience, and I am more afraid for them

  now than ever I was while the baby was on its way into the world. The Guv’nor3 has been down here helping to pin blackout paper over the kitchen and

  nursery windows. A watch-committee is patrolling the neighbourhood on the lookout for exposed lights. I saw Mrs Rendell defying them from her front doorstep as she would defy the Archangel Gabriel.

  One of the strangest sights encountered on the way home was a London double-decker bus speeding along between Guildford and Woking with a cargo of schoolchildren. The vast and elaborate plan for

  evacuating children, and for all I know the sick, aged, and crippled, from the country’s industrial centres must be in progress. But the National Gallery, I wonder, the treasures of the

  British Museum, the Science Museum, the great libraries – what is being done to save them?




  I want to be everywhere at once to witness and report.




  Sunday 3 September – It would be impossible to convey the sense of utter panic with which we heard the first Air Raid warning, ten minutes after

  the outbreak of war. We had all taken The Shape of Things to Come4 too much to heart, also the dire prophecies of scientists, journalists, and

  even politicians of the devastation and disease that would follow the first air raid. We pictured St Paul’s in ruins and a hole in the ground where the Houses of Parliament had stood. But

  nothing happened.




  Thursday 7 September – Apart from unemployment the general feeling is that we are engaged in a picnic. But then we are reminded that in

  August 1914 the war was thought to be a picnic but the imperishable retreat from Mons followed and with it the bitter winter of that year. Also, we cannot regard the 1914 war as a precedent. Now we

  are out to down a regime, not a nation. Now we know the full disaster of war and, more than this, we all know that we must fight or be dominated by a gang of bullies and liars. It’s the lying

  I can’t stand, any more than the Secret Police, the Concentration Camps, the rubber bludgeons, the plucking of Rabbis’ beards, burning of synagogues, the lack of honour.




  Sunday 10 September – This is one of the most mysterious wars through which I have ever lived. Mysterious because nobody knows

  what’s happening. A paucity of news over the radio. Is anything happening? No cheering crowds, no drafts leaving Victoria, no indication indeed that we are to send an army abroad. But then,

  if we are leaving poor, battered Poland with the idea that we can somehow slide out of a major offensive, it’s time we threw out the Peace Premier Chamberlain (71) and got someone more

  belligerent in his place.




  Thursday 12 October – At the pictures on Tuesday we saw a newsreel of the troops in France. They seemed very old-fashioned, and one

  expected the film to grey over with speckles and flicker, like the old newsreels. Coming home in the pitch dark was an experience. All the streets were deserted as though plague had struck and the

  death-cart had made its daily collection. No children at play, no lovers up against lamp-posts, no sound, and only an occasional chink of light under a front door or the glow of a cigarette. It all

  seems very humiliating, this cowering down in expectation of death falling from the heavens. In fact, the plague years must have been very like this.




  

    VERA BRITTAIN


  




  On the day war was declared Vera was at home in the New Forest with John, aged 11, Shirley (9, known in the family as Poppy) and the family servants Mr and Mrs Burnett. Her

  husband George had left the day before to travel to Rochdale, where he hoped to be selected as the Labour Party candidate at the coming by-election. As part of her work for the Peace Pledge Union

  (PPU), Vera had proposed writing a regular personal Peace Letter.


  

  It was the beginning of the new school year, and John returned to the Downs School while Shirley started at Oldfield School near

  Swanage. Both Vera and George had been offered work in the USA – Vera another lecture tour, and George another post at Cornell University in New York. Throughout the autumn Vera wrote

  articles and attended meetings in pursuit of peace. In November she gave talks in Birmingham, Glasgow, Reading, Exeter, Portsmouth and Liverpool, as well as in London. And in October the first

  issue of Vera’s Letter to Peace Lovers was published by the PPU. It would appear weekly, then later fortnightly, throughout the war.




  Sunday 3 September – First thing this morning the news was still indefinite & I half decided to go up to London to the PPU Hyde Park

  gathering organised for tonight. Then at 10.0 the BBC made the ‘important announcement’ that an ultimatum asking Germany to leave Poland would expire at 11 a.m. – and if no answer

  had been received, Mr Chamberlain would speak at 11.15. At that time we turned on the wireless again & heard his statement that from 11.0 this morning a state of war existed between England

  & Germany. His voice sounded old & trembled – and suddenly, as I sat on the camp bed in the study listening between the two children, I found that the tears were running down my

  cheeks – I suppose from some subconscious realisation of the failure of my efforts for peace over 20 years, for I had expected the announcement. Poppy hugged me & all but licked my face

  like a puppy. I rang up the PPU & Canon Morris5 answered; said they might want me to do my weekly letter, & also a Pacifist Service Corps was going to

  be organised in wh. I might take part. Went out in the forest; in the sunny quiet of the gorse and heather it was impossible to take in the size of the catastrophe. To comfort myself, wrote an

  article for Peace News called ‘Lift Up Your Hearts’. At night G. telegraphed from Rochdale that Morgan, not he, is selected.




  Vera’s article ‘What Can We Do In Wartime?’ was published on 9 September in Forward, a left-wing Scottish journal. What follows is an extract from

  it.




  To-day we who lost our friends and lovers between 1914 and 1919 are faced with the bitter fact that all the suffering and service of those nightmare years failed completely in

  their purpose. Far from smashing German militarism and making the world safe for democracy, their long-range consequence has been to smash German democracy and make the world safe for militarism.

  The war to end war has resulted in a greater fear of war than the world has ever known. The attempt to smash militarism by force has led to more of it – and not in Germany and Italy alone

  – than at any period of history. The Europe that was to be made safe for democracy has only 150 million people living under democratic governments, and 350 millions under different forms of

  despotism.




  Tuesday 12 September – Took John back to Malvern by car. Got caught in fleet of army lorries which exhausted our diminishing supply of

  petrol – & Burnett had to get more from a garage fortunately not too far away. John rather subdued & quiet, but when we got to the Downs School he said goodbye with equanimity &

  walked in with me quite calmly loaded up with coat, suitcase, drawings & gas-mask. Mr Hoyland6 took me into his study for a talk. I mentioned our possible

  service in America; he fully understood, & undertook to be responsible for John in the Easter holidays if I wished. We drove straight back stopping only for tea at Cirencester. Burnett drove

  splendidly & did not even seem very tired – but I felt cramped, dizzy & deaf after spending the best part of 12 hours in an Austin 7.




  Friday 22 September – Felt extraordinarily desolate all day without the children. House very quiet. Answered letters all day. Walked to

  Lyndhurst for stamps in morning, and after lunch went to the children’s ‘submarine’ – the big fallen tree in the wooded glade over the brow of the nearest hill – and

  pictured the children’s small ghosts playing there. Have decided it is just selfishness wh. makes me wish in these days that they had never been born; it isn’t so much the fear that

  they will suffer, as reluctance to suffer more myself through my love for them. Every dear human relationship which makes one long for life turns one into a potential coward & makes courage

  more difficult.




  Sunday 24 September – Went for walk with G. Very quiet afternoon; no wind stirred the interlacing boughs of the beeches in the woods.

  Coming back, we passed the little group of cottages at the corner of the glade; a smell of peat-fires came from them, mingled with the scent of flowers & ripe red apples. In the corner garden

  was a riot of large dahlias – orange, crimson, yellow & scarlet. In the lane a little boy was twisting himself on a swing above a wood-pile. I remarked to G. how much more tragic the war

  seemed down here than in London; the contrast is so poignant between the lovely, serene, stable, civilised things which are the real essence of people’s lives, and that cruel unnecessary

  violence, carnage & destruction that threatens their very existence.




  Death of Sigmund Freud announced on wireless this morning.




  Saturday 25 November – Came to Swanage from Portsmouth to see Shirley. Very wild blustery evening with cold heavy rain. Shirley looks

  quite well but lovely brown colour of the summer has gone.




  Miss Hascroft of the WIL [Women’s International League for Peace and Freedom] asked me to go to-day to the cremation of Mrs Swanwick,7 who committed

  suicide last week by overdose of medinol owing to War. Could not bec. of seeing Shirley.




  Monday 27 November – Spent afternoon in PPU office dictating answers to letters. Now have over 1,300 subscribers to Letter.




  

    CHARLES RITCHIE


  




  The Russo-German pact of 22 August 1939 had convinced Ritchie ‘that a war to defend Poland with Russia benevolent to Germany would be suicide’, since

  Germany’s access to Russian raw materials would make it impossible to blockade her. On 26 August the British Foreign Office had suggested that the high commissioners of the Dominions

  (principally Ritchie’s boss Mr Massey and the Australian HC) should encourage Mr Chamberlain to ask Poland to ‘give in’. Ritchie was the messenger. ‘As I walked back across

  the Horse Guards I thought, “Should I suppress this suggestion?” but I passed it on to Mr Massey. If I believed that nothing must be done to discourage the Poles I would not have passed

  it on. I knew that I had to make up my mind in a hurry. I suppose my feeling was that as a Canadian I should be right in doing anything, however small, in the direction of postponing

  war.’




  On 8 September the Athenia, a British liner carrying women and children to Canada, was torpedoed by a German U-boat, with the loss of 112 lives. Ritchie shared the public’s

  outrage.




  Sunday 3 September – The war feeling is swelling. Believe it would sweep aside any compromise with Germany if the Government at the

  twelfth hour could secure one. This thing is a drug which alternately depresses and elates its victims and gives them release from the slow death of their daily lives. No one who has not felt this

  war-feeling inside him can know how it shakes the foundations and lets loose hate, generosity, lust, fear, courage, love – all the bag of human tricks. Some thought they had been analyzed

  away, but it was just that the right button had not been pressed.




  At the doors of the houses in my neighbourhood stand cars laden with luggage. Little groups of Kensingtonians are evacuating their aunts, their canaries, and their small dogs.




  Friday 8 September – The liner Athenia has been sunk by the Germans. The absurd folly of these utterly unwarlike people being

  drowned. This war has a quality which no other had. We do not approach it with our former innocence. We are in cold blood repeating a folly which belongs to the youth of mankind. We are driven to

  it by the force of sheer human stupidity, laziness, and error which we have been unable in the last twenty years to overcome.




  

    NAOMI MITCHISON


  




  At the beginning of September the Mitchison family were all at home in Carradale in Kintyre. There were also several visitors, including Denny’s friend Robin and two of

  Naomi’s women friends Joan and Tony. The first evacuees had arrived from Glasgow and were staying in the estate’s farmhouse, known as Mains.




  Naomi had been one of the founder members of the Carra-dale branch of the Labour Party, whose chairman was now Dick Galbraith, a fisherman known as Young Dick to distinguish him from her

  husband. She was critical of the Labour leadership over its support for the war, and, given her sympathy with the Soviet Union, felt ‘like hell deep down because of the Russian

  news’.




  Sunday 3 September – I listened to the 9 o’ck news, realising fairly clearly what the next was to be. The others were mostly not

  down, but I had not slept well. Valentine went off to Mains to look after the Glasgow children; Dick and I discussed what was to be done about the education of Avrion and Valentine; the latter can

  go to school here for a term, but the former would learn nothing. Tony said I’ll start the war clean and went to wash her hair; a little later I did the same; it wasn’t quite dry by

  11.15. As we listened to Chamberlain speaking, sounding like a very old man, I kept wondering what the old Kaiser was thinking, whether he was old enough to see it all fully. The boys looked pale

  and worried, though Robin was laughing a little. At the end Joan said How could he ask God to bless us? As God Save the King started Denny turned it off and someone said Thank you.




  The maids hadn’t wanted to come through; I told Annie, who was wonderfully cheerful and said she remembered the Boer War, and Bella who said Isn’t that heartbreaking. After a bit she

  began to cry, a saucepan in her hands, said Think of all our men going, then to me Of course you’ve got boys too. Dick said Think of the women in Germany all saying that too, but there was no

  response. Then she asked When will they send our men over? But none of us had much idea.




  In the drawing room the big boys were writing and reading; I think perhaps writing poetry. I was feeling sick and I went over to Mains, but the teachers had just left – we followed them.

  Valentine had brought the Glasgow children over; they were talking happily but looked very white and thin and small. The village was empty; most people at church. It began to rain hard and we took

  shelter at the Galbraiths. Young Dick said So it’s come.




  At lunch Joan said she was on a small island of sand with everything cut off before and behind. I said I had been feeling the future cut off for some time. We all agreed it was queer to feel the

  past so cut-off, everything had a different meaning now.




  Tuesday 26 September – I am beginning to wonder whether the point of a place like this may not be that it will keep alive certain ideas

  of freedom which might easily be destroyed in the course of this totalitarian war. There are increasing signs of totalitarianism in this country (for instance, decisions by local councils not to

  hold committees but to delegate things to chairmen) and democracy may most easily be kept alive in small communities. Meetings will not be possible in towns, but they will still be able to be held

  in the country. And again, here people will not be terrorised by darkness and regulations and this departure of the men, into accepting anything.




  Friday 29 September – Came down, to finish my poem and write letters. Heard the 12 o’ck news with the new Russo-German treaty. In a

  way one had been expecting it, but not quite as definite. Of course one needn’t make too much of protestations of friendship; and treaties are made to be broken. But it looks like a long,

  long war, involving even Avrion. And all the other children.




  I set down, for future reading, that I think now, in three years, or five, I and mine will wish very deeply that we had made peace now; and this will be true of many millions. I only hope I am

  wrong.




  In any case, none of us can do anything about it. Perhaps it is easier to be powerless.




  The nightmare quality grows; one thinks one will wake up.




  Saturday 7 October – I spent all the afternoon with Munro [the head forester], going round, looking at all the woods, deciding what trees

  to cut, what to prune, where to re-plant and what to re-plant. We walked for nearly three hours and never once mentioned the war.




  I took him down to the wild garden to get his advice on the blue cedars and macrocarpas; he was so pleased with them, gasped with pleasure. And then we smelt a lovely smell, which neither of us

  could trace to any one plant or bush, but something balmy but pungent; the sun had been out for a bit, and brought it to the surface. We both wandered about smelling and touching; we found a lot of

  macrocarpa seedlings I hadn’t known about in front of the house; and we ate brambles.




  During these months Naomi worked on a long poem about the local fishing fleet and the community she was coming to love. In this extract she writes about returning to the

  harbour and home.




  

    At Airds I smell new bread; there is light in the bakehouse.


	

	As I pass in the dawn the smell grows so rich that it covers


	

	The smell of herring on my coat and hands.


	

	It dies along the road and instead


	

	I smell, As the first gold comes breaking through the grey,


	

	All the land things; earth, flowers, cattle, houses


	

	Where the goodwife begins to stir,


	

	And, under the high green arches between gate and doorway,


	

	The essential sweetness of leaves.8


  




  

    HERMIONE RANFURLY


  




  On 30 August 1939 Hermione and Dan escaped the heat of their cramped London flat to take a short second honeymoon at the home of General Joe Laycock and his wife Ann in

  Ross-shire. Deer-stalking by the loch, arranged for their first day, was a welcome contrast to the talk of war in London, and Hermione caused much amusement crossing the peat bogs in her tennis

  shoes.




  In early October Hermione joined Dan and his valet Whitaker in Wiltshire, where Dan was attending a machine-gun course. With thousands training on Salisbury Plain, accommodation to rent was

  scarce, but they eventually found a small cottage. There Hermione taught Whitaker to ride and he taught her to cook.




  Thursday 31 August – Loch Torridon – Several times I slumped to the ground and looked back at the blue loch water below. I

  wondered if I was tired after the long drive from London yesterday – or am just lazy. How does one know the difference? I counted three out loud to make myself get up.




  When we came out of the wood and crossed the lawn it was dusk. Lights were on in the house. We opened the front door and were surprised to see suitcases in the hall. General Joe Laycock came out

  of his study and for a moment I thought he was going to be cross because we were nearly late for dinner. He looked tired, or older than he did at breakfast. ‘Dear Dan and Hermione, welcome

  back,’ he said. ‘We are not changing for dinner.’ He hesitated, then said very slowly – as if it hurt him – ‘I want you to give me a lift in your car at

  day-break tomorrow. I must go south and so must you. Bob has telephoned from the War Office: the Germans are marching on Poland.’




  No one spoke or ate much at dinner and immediately afterwards we went upstairs to pack and go to bed. Soon it will be dawn. Dan is fast asleep. I have counted sheep in vain – they are all

  turned into Germans.




  Sunday 3 September – Melton Mowbray – Two days ago we left Torridon. It seems an age. As we stacked our guns, golf-clubs and

  fishing rods into the back of our Buick, fear pinched my heart: these are the toys of yesterday I thought; they belong to another world. General Laycock, Dan and I sat in front. We hardly spoke. No

  doubt the General was thinking of his sons, Bob, Peter and Michael, who will all have to go to war. Questions teemed through my mind: where will Dan’s Yeomanry, the Notts Sherwood Rangers,

  go? Will I be able to see him? Mummy, ill in hospital in Switzerland – should I fetch her back to England? And Whitaker – our cook-butler – perhaps he is too old to be a soldier?

  It was raining. The windscreen wipers ticked to and fro’ and it seemed as if each swipe brought a new and more horrifying thought to me. We had started on a journey – but to where? And

  for how long?




  Dan left me here with Hilda, his Mother. She offered him her beautiful chestnut mare to be his second charger and he accepted gratefully. In twenty minutes, he and Whitaker were gone.




  Thousands of children are being evacuated from London to the country. They, and their parents, must feel as desolate as me.




  Wednesday 1 November – East Chisenbury – Mrs Sparrow forwarded our mail from London. One letter was from Monty Moore

  Montgomery (an amusing, sophisticated, travelled American who took me dining and dancing during my week in New York on my way back from Australia):




  

    

      Wall Street, New York 10 October 1939




      The feeling here is intense against involvement although sentiment is pro-Ally. Americans, you know, revere sagacity – and there are some of us who think Hitler has

      the finest brain in Europe, if not in the world today – and that with such a leader Germany is sufficiently powerful to do a lot of unpleasant things if you insist. It would seem foolish

      to me to go on, killing hundreds of thousands and squandering pounds sterling to the ultimate end of fostering communism in all Europe.




      If England doesn’t negotiate a peace within six months, I shall be both surprised and shocked. False pride and foolish alliances are no reason for a war – and when it comes to

      broken promises, well, Hitler may have the high score but England and France are close seconds.


    


  




  

    CLARA MILBURN


  




  As war began to seem inevitable, Clara and Jack knew that their son Alan would be called up. On 1 September he was told to report to Coventry. Clara was a leading member of the

  team organizing accommodation for the children and teachers being evacuated from Coventry, and much of Sunday was spent allocating them to their new homes.




  Saturday 2 September – Saturday was full, with going round to billets early in the morning and then driving into Coventry, meeting Alan

  at the solicitors for him to make his will, and doing a little hasty shopping with the thought of two evacuee teachers being billeted upon us next day. Jack was busy all day making the dining-room

  gas-proof, and he did it in his usual thorough and effective manner. The blackout was already done – we’d gone to Leamington the week before to buy the blackout curtain material, and

  when they said ‘How much do you want? There are 26 yards in this roll,’ I said I’d take the roll. But two large bay windows and two smaller windows in the living and dining-room

  ate a huge piece of the black Italian cloth, and by the time all the windows in little Burleigh had been draped, curtains made and re-made till I was nearly weeping with sewing black seams, undoing

  and restitching, the roll was entirely finished and a few more yards were needed. Then came a careful shading of lights, for the broadcast message was insistent as to the extent of the blackout

  required.




  Sunday 3 September – It was bright and sunny and a really hot day by 10 a.m., when all billeting wardens were to be in their appointed

  places in the school playground to receive the teachers and children arriving from Coventry by bus. Before that time one room at Burleigh had to be entirely re-arranged – Alan’s room

  had to be put ready for the two teachers we had promised to accommodate.




  A second bed was set up, drawers emptied, and Alan’s own intimate things stuffed hurriedly away for two strange women to take possession. It was too much! Out went his desk into the spare

  room, his numberless ties taken out of their special drawer, the wardrobe cleared, tankards won in many motor trials parked away for the duration, photographs removed, and at last the room was

  ready. It was not Alan’s room now, and I brimmed over – and felt relieved.




  But there was no time for moaning. There was work to be done and I got off to the school. The sun worked wonders, and with an effort the tears were forced back and the business in hand took all

  one’s attention. At last the buses came and queue after queue of clean and tidy children filed into the playground accompanied by many teachers.




  During the week we were called up by the air raid warden, who found our blackout insufficient, and still more curtains had to be made. By now the price of the material had gone up from 2s 6d to

  3s 11d a yard, and the quality was decidedly inferior. But a very definite blackout was obtained at the bay windows by covering the whole bay, from the top of the pelmet to a foot from the floor,

  with a great black pall reminiscent of a first class French funeral! These had to be hung every evening at blackout time and not removed before a specified time in the morning. The lack of

  ventilation was stifling in hot weather, but it is wonderful how one can conform to an order when it is absolutely necessary to do so.




  By the end of November many of the evacuees had returned home and the two teachers went too. Alan was at a training camp in Swindon, prior to joining the British Expeditionary

  Force (BEF) in the new year.




  

    ALAN BROOKE


  




  Brooke arrived in France on 29 September to take command of II Corps of the BEF, with two divisional commanders, Montgomery and Johnson. His old colleague and friend John Dill

  commanded I Corps. Commander-in-chief was John Gort. All had served with distinction in the First World War and now found themselves revisiting old territory.




  The BEF was preparing to defend the Franco-Belgian border where the Maginot Line stopped. The Germans were expected to invade Holland and Belgium before winter set in.




  Tom, Brooke’s son from his first marriage, was with an artillery regiment in I Corps.




  Wednesday 4 October – I was unable to write during the last 3 days as I went forward to look at the front we are to take over. I stopped

  with Dill in his temporary HQ for both nights, and had long talks with him. Found him still very depressed about the general state of unpreparedness for war. We condoled with each other on the lack

  of equipment and shortage of training of many components. I feel however that his disappointment at having missed both CIGS9 and C-in-C jobs has coloured his

  life, and that he is looking at his own situation possibly with slightly over-pessimistic outlook. I feel desperately sorry for him as he is in the depths of gloom.




  Tuesday 17 October – Spent the morning in the office. Amongst other jobs trying to write a letter to the King as Gort had told us he was

  rather hurt that we had not yet written to him. In the afternoon looked up Tom whom I found very well and cheerful. His Colonel says he is doing well.




  Sunday 22 October – Fairly hard frost this morning. Went out with Johnson to look at the Reserve Front he is preparing. Started at 10 am

  and walked most of the day returning about 5.30 pm. They have been doing great work in spite of the very inclement weather, and the defences are making rapid strides. The position will soon be

  fairly strong but requires far more troops than we have got to hold it against a determined attack. Still very short of sandbags; when one remembers the lavish use made of sandbags at home in

  localities that will never see a bomb it makes one’s blood boil to be so short of them out here.




  Saturday 11 November, Armistice Day – Vimy Ridge10 – I felt throughout the

  ceremony as if I were in a dream. The white tall pillars of the monument standing out against the ashy grey sky seemed entirely detached from this earth, whilst the two red wreaths of poppies

  looked like two small drops of blood on that vast monument. They served as a vivid reminder of the floods of blood that had already been spilt on the very ground [on which] we were standing, and of

  the futility of again causing such bloodshed. I suppose that it is through such punishments that we shall eventually learn to ‘love our neighbours as ourselves’.




  Monday 13 November – We are still being kept in suspense – still no move of the Germans into Holland or Belgium!




  Dill came to see me and tell me results of his talk with Gort which he asked for to draw attention to our weakness on the proposed line. I gather that he failed to make Gort realize the risks he

  was taking with the BEF. I am afraid Dill feels the situation acutely, his astute military knowledge makes him see clearly that with such strung-out forces, even behind a river, serious resistance

  is impossible. He feels it his duty to inform Gort who has not quite the same breadth of vision, and Dill feels that Gort has the impression that he suffers from ‘cold feet’ and is an

  alarmist. It is a very sad situation; he is torn between loyalty to his commander and loyalty to his Corps.




  Thursday 23 November – Started the day by having to ‘tell off’ Monty for having issued a circular to his troops on the

  prevention of venereal disease worded in such obscene language that both the C of E and RC senior chaplains had complained to the Adjutant General.




  I had already seen the circular and told Monty what I thought of it, namely that [by] the issue of such a document he had inevitably undermined the respect and esteem of the division for him,

  and thus seriously affected his position as commander. I also informed him that I had a very high opinion of his military capabilities and an equally low one of his literary ones! He took it

  wonderfully well, and I think it ought to have done him good. It is a great pity that he spoils his very high military ability by a mad desire to talk or write nonsense.




  Tuesday 28 November – It is a great relief and a load off my mind that the 2 Corps has not been subjected to active operations yet, and

  has had this additional time to complete its preparations and training. On arrival in this country and for the first 2 months the Corps was quite unfit for war, practically in every aspect. Even

  now our anti-tank gunners are untrained and a large proportion of our artillery have never fired either their equipment or type of smoke shell that they are armed with. To send untrained troops

  into modern war is courting disaster such as befell the Poles. I only hope that we may now be left in peace for the next 2 to 3 months to complete the required readiness for war of the 2nd Corps

  including its new division the 5th.




  

    HAROLD NICOLSON


  




  On the morning of 3 September Harold Nicolson was in Westminster with the Eden Group. They listened to the prime minister’s broadcast together. ‘He is quite good

  and tells us that war has begun’. A planned stroll down to the House of Commons became a hurried lift in a car when an air-raid warning sounded. After a brief stay in the shelter, where there

  were ‘all manner of people from Cabinet Ministers to cooks’, he attended the debate, during which Chamberlain ‘makes a speech which is restrained and therefore effective’

  but ‘looks very ill’.




  Sunday 3 September – At 1.50 I motor down with Victor Cazalet11 to Sissinghurst. There are many

  army lorries passing along the road and a few pathetic trucks evacuating East End refugees. In one of those there is an elderly woman who shakes her fist at us and shouts that it is all the fault

  of the rich. The Labour Party will be hard put to it to prevent this war degenerating into class warfare.




  When I reach Sissinghurst I find that the flag has been pulled down.




  Monday 11 September – How odd one’s feelings are at this moment! I hate this war and dread its consequences. I know that whatever

  happens it will destroy everything I care for. Thus there is a little timid selfish side of myself that tempts me by still murmurings to hope that we shall reach a form of appeasement after the

  Germans have conquered Poland. Yet the real thing in me loathes and detests any such capitulation.




  Tuesday 26 September – The Prime Minister gets up to make his statement. He is dressed in deep mourning relieved only by a white

  handkerchief and a large gold watch-chain. One feels the confidence and spirits of the House dropping inch by inch. When he sits there is scarcely any applause. During the whole speech Winston

  Churchill had sat hunched beside him looking like the Chinese god of plenty suffering from acute indigestion. He just sits there, lowering, hunched and circular, and then he gets up.




  The effect of Winston’s speech was infinitely greater than could be derived from any reading of the text. His delivery was really amazing and he sounded every note from deep preoccupation

  to flippancy, from resolution to sheer boyishness. One could feel the spirits of the House rising with every word. It was quite obvious afterwards that the Prime Minister’s inadequacy and

  lack of inspiration had been demonstrated even to his warmest supporters. In those twenty minutes Churchill brought himself nearer the post of Prime Minister than he had ever been before. In the

  Lobbies afterwards even Chamberlainites were saying, ‘We have now found our leader’. Old Parliamentary hands confessed that never in their experience had they seen a single speech so

  change the temper of the House.




  In early November, after intensive work, Harold’s Why Britain Is at War was published by Penguin. The following is an extract.




  Are we aware even now of the actual cruelty of the Nazi system?




  I have met a man who was sent to a German concentration camp and thereafter released. He managed to escape into Switzerland and I saw him later in Paris. He was an elderly man of short stature

  and great girth. On arrival at the camp he was made to take off all his clothes and to creep on all fours around the room. The youths of the S.S. who were in control of the camp amused themselves

  by flicking with wet towels at his naked frame. They then told him to urinate into the mouth of an elderly Jew, who was also stripped naked. When he refused to do so, they were both flogged until

  they were unconscious. I did not believe this story at the time. Since then I have heard other stories which confirm it in every detail. I cannot conceive that, in any circumstances which could

  possibly arise, could youths of my own race either wish, or be allowed by their elders, to behave with such obscenity.




  Harold’s elder son Ben was now a private in an anti-aircraft battery commanded by Victor Cazalet not far from their home in Kent, while the younger, Nigel, was at the

  Royal Military Academy at Sandhurst.




  Saturday 25 November – How curious are the moods through which one passes! I sit here in my room at Sissinghurst thinking back on the

  days since 3 September. The acute depression and misery of the first weeks has passed. I have accepted the fact that we are at war, and I suppose I am physically relieved by the fact that there are

  not likely to be any raids during the winter upon London and that the Germans have not made a dash through Holland. Yet the fact that this war is costing us six million pounds a day and that I am

  not really certain that we shall win it, fills me with acute sadness at times. We all keep up a brave face and refuse to admit that defeat is possible. But my heart aches with apprehension.




  Then Victor Cazalet rings up to say that Ben has got his stripe and is now a Bombardier. We are absurdly pleased by this. A windy night with a scudding moon. I think of the people at sea and all

  those devils in Germany and Rome plotting, plotting, plotting our destruction in the spring.




  

    CHILD EVACUEES FROM


    CZECHOSLOVAKIA


  




  In December 1938 Stanley Baldwin made a radio appeal on behalf of Jewish refugees from Nazi Germany: ‘I ask you to come to the aid of victims not of any catastrophe in

  the natural world, not of earthquake, not of flood, not of famine, but of an explosion of Man’s inhumanity to Man’. As a result of this broadcast between 3 December 1938 and 14 May 1940

  ten thousand Jewish children were rescued in Operation Kindertransport. Czechoslovakia, however, had no organization to help Jewish children.




  Just before Christmas 1938 Nicholas Winton, an unmarried 29-year-old merchant banker working in the City, cancelled the skiing holiday he’d planned with a fellow Peace Pledge Union member.

  Instead they both travelled to Prague to offer their assistance. Under the auspices of the British Committee for Refugees from Czechoslovakia (BCRC), Winton and his friend set themselves up in an

  office in Wenceslas Square and did what they could.




  

    NICHOLAS WINTON


  




  Christmas 1938 – There were thousands of children needing help.




  My day usually started with interviews in my bedroom whilst I was shaving (sometimes at 6.00 a.m.). Some parents said that they would willingly take the risk of staying in the country if we

  could only find some way of getting their children to safety. A few had plenty of money, others not the price of a meal. Many required clothing as it was bitterly cold.


  

  Some of their questions were unanswerable. If Doreen12 [head of the BCRC] told the parents that she could get them to safety, but not the children, there was weeping and there was also

  weeping when we had to say that, at the moment, we could help neither parents nor children. And there was more weeping when we told the parents that if the children were found places in England, we

  could not guarantee if, or when, they would be reunited. It was all quite overwhelming. Some of the mothers were already on the ‘streets’ to get money to buy food for themselves and

  their families. I felt quite dazed. What suffering there is when armies start to march!13




  Winton’s first group of children left on 14 March 1939, the day before German troops entered Prague. For each child he had to supply proof that the foster-family was

  willing to pay for the child’s keep and provide a fifty-pound deposit to cover the eventual cost of repatriation.




  The last ‘Winton’ transport, on 2 August 1939, brought sixty-eight children to Britain. A larger transport of more than 250 children was scheduled for 1 September, but Hitler invaded

  Poland that day and the borders were closed. The train was not allowed to leave the station and, as far as is known, all these children were later deported to concentration camps.14




  

    VERA GISSING


  




  Vera Gissing and her sister Eva were rescued. Their mother went behind her husband’s back to add her daughters’ names to Winton’s list. Vera, aged 10, and

  Eva, 15, were booked on a transport for the end of June; their cousins Tommy and Honza would leave in September. Upon hearing the news, their father covered his face with his hands ‘whilst we

  all waited in silence. Then he lifted his head, smiled at us with tears in his eyes, sighed and said, “All right, let them go”’.




  In the diary her father gave her, Vera recorded the journey via Germany, Holland and the English Channel. The girls were separated upon arrival in London, and Vera was the last to be collected.

  However, their foster-families – Eva’s in Dorset, and Vera’s in Liverpool – took great pains to see that the sisters remained in contact and visited each other. Letters and

  parcels to and from home were exchanged regularly during the first months of the war. But a letter from their mother dated 21 November 1939 would be the last they ever received.




  End of June – Prague station – The station platform was filled with anxious parents, the train packed with excited children. There were tears, last words of advice,

  last words of encouragement, last words of love, the last embrace. ‘See you in a free Czechoslovakia!’ I cried impulsively as the whistle blew. My parents looked scared, and so did

  other people, as there were Gestapo men about. And as the train slowly pulled out of the station, in the sea of people I saw only the beloved figures of mother and father, their brave smiles vainly

  trying to hide their anguish.15




  Early July – London – I was led into an empty room to await the arrival of my English foster-parent. Before very long the

  door opened and there stood a little lady, barely taller than I was. Her hat sat askew on her head and her mackintosh was buttoned up all wrong. She ran towards me then, laughing and crying at the

  same time, and hugged me tightly, talking to me with words I could not understand. I was slightly baffled, not a little embarrassed and somewhat overwhelmed, but greatly relieved to be met by such

  a warm and jolly person.16




  

    MRS RAINFORD


	(‘Mummy’, Vera’s foster-mother from Liverpool)


  




  I was taken to a house in Bloomsbury and shown into a big room. It was quite empty, there wasn’t a stick of furniture in it, not even a chair. In the middle of the room

  was a little rucksack and a little jacket, and next to them a forlorn little girl. It was such a pitiful sight! I flung my arms around the girl and said, ‘You shall be

  loved!’17




  

    CHILD EVACUEES FROM LONDON


  




  From 31 August 1939 thousands of children were evacuated from the capital. They went with their schoolteachers, with labels around their necks and a single change of clothing.

  When parents saw their children onto the trains, they generally had no idea of their destination and no guarantee that brothers and sisters would be billeted together. Cards would be posted from

  their eventual host families so that luggage could be forwarded and letters written, but the loss of sons and daughters was harrowing.




  Two of these young children had no difficulty recalling the experience as adults. Their accounts reflect the dependency of evacuees on the good nature or otherwise of their host family.




  

    ANITA GREENBERG


  




  Anita, aged eight, was evacuated to Windsor with her 6-year-old brother Arnold.




  On 31 August my father came home early and brought with him two white canvas haversacks (something like the ones sailors use). My mother put a few items of clothing in the

  haversacks for my brother and me. They had a list of the things they had to pack. Everything was ready and then my father remembered that he had forgotten to buy an ‘indelible pencil’

  (what on earth could that be?) he went out and came back a little later with the pencil. He wet the point in his mouth and proceeded to write our names on the haversacks – Anita Greenberg,

  Arnold Greenberg. It came out a mauve colour.




  We were all up early the next morning because it was the day Arnold and I were going to be evacuated. It all sounded wonderful. We were going into the ‘country’. We would see cows

  and sheep and trees and flowers. These things weren’t exactly in abundance in London’s East End.




  At about nine o’clock we all started off on foot for Stepney Green Station. On the way we saw lots of other little family groups going in the same direction.




  The station itself was really crowded and we had to queue to get in. We were given buff-coloured name tags to tie on to our coats. Some of the teachers were waiting for us on the platform and

  this is where we said our ‘good-byes’ to our mummies and daddies. There wasn’t a lot of time because we were ushered onto the waiting train by our teachers. I wasn’t sad or

  unhappy – in fact I was quite looking forward to the adventure. Someone must have done a wonderful job of brainwashing me.




  We didn’t know, and neither did any of the parents, where we were going. My mother and father had drummed it into me that my brother and I must not be separated. My brother was six years

  old and I was the big sister.




  The train finally arrived at a place called Windsor. We were taken to a church hall and there we were given brown carrier bags with string handles. Inside we found sandwiches, a cold drink and a

  bar of chocolate. We were in a big hall and there were lots of children.




  After we had rested and eaten we were all taken on a march down a very long road. I think it was called St Leonard’s Road. Along this road there were rows and rows of houses and outside

  each house stood the housewife. As we walked along, the housewife would say ‘I’ll have a girl’, or ‘I’ll have two little boys’, etc. It was a long walk down St

  Leonard’s Road. All the children in front of my brother and I had been swallowed up and were already in various houses. Now it was our turn. Mrs Taylor said, ‘I’ll have the little

  girl.’ When I heard that, I grabbed my brother’s hand and refused to go. I said, ‘My mummy said that we must stay together,’ and Mrs Taylor agreed to take both of us, Arnold

  and me. She had only one spare bed, but that didn’t matter – we were only little children and could both sleep in the one bed. And so we took on our new status – we were now

  Evacuees.




  I realise now how very vulnerable we little children were. My brother and I were lucky. We didn’t come across any unkindness, but I know that this was not so in the case of many

  evacuees.18




  When Arnold fell ill in February 1940 both children returned home. ‘After all, nothing terrible was happening in London.’ As a result both children, like so many

  others, were back in London when the Blitz began.




  

    BARBARA BIRCHALL


  




  Aged three, Barbara was evacuated to Reading in Berkshire with her 4-year-old sister. They were housed with a shoe mender and his wife and daughter who, after a couple of

  years, allowed their dissatisfaction with the situation to turn into cruelty. Their father was in the army as a cook and used to send them sweets, though they never got any.
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